THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

OCT 17 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2024-001719

U.S. Bank Trust National Association, not in its Individual Capacity, but solely as owner Trustee for the Legacy Trust 2020-GSI, Rushmore Loan Servicing and Goldman Sach Mortgage Company, U.S. Bank and U.S. Bank National Association,.....Respondent,

vs.

Jacob Fulks; Florene Fulks,.....Appellants.

APPELLANTS JACOB FULKS AND FLORENE FULKS
FINAL BRIEF

Respectfully submitted,

Jacob Fulks

Florene Fulks

Jacob Fulks and Florene Fulks, Pro Se

Columbia, South Carolina 29229

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the MIE err in failing to transfer case back to circuit court upon demand of a jury trial?
- II. Did the MIE err as a matter in law in granting motion to dismiss counterclaims were one or more of the counterclaims were compulsory?
- III. Did the MIE abused his discretion by failing to grant leave to amend?

INTRODUCTION

This is a foreclosure case that involves a fraudulent mortgage loan created by a mortgagee and its predecessors in interest by attempting to collect mortgage payments and foreclose on a mortgage lien never signed or agreed to by Florene Fulks and to the best of his ability not agreed to nor signed by Jacob Fulks. Appellants discovered that for years they have been paying on a mortgage they never received any financial benefits or any other gain which ultimately resulted in appellants filing bankruptcy to save their home.

After the respondents moved to foreclose, appellants contested the foreclosure and filed counterclaims in order to obtain some sort of damages from the financial fallout they endured for paying on a fraudulent loan. The MIE dismissed the counterclaims under S.C. Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim.

Even assuming appellants did not state a plausible claim by failing to meet each element of their claim, the MIE should have granted leave to amend the counterclaims instead of dismissing them outright. The case was and still is in its early stages. Appellants are pro se litigants and are attempting to navigate court proceedings and learn rules of civil procedures. While appellants were not expecting any special favors from the MIE due to their lack of court knowledge, granting the appellants leave to amend would not have prejudice respondents at such an early stage, respondents did not oppose leave and given the seriousness and severity of appellants affirmative defenses, fraud and other counterclaims. Leave to amend is often granted to parties especially after discovery which had not even began at the time of dismissal. The rules of court and laws are generally designed to allow for cases to be brought such that litigants have an opportunity to fully and fairly litigate their claims. Here, this Court is not confronted with any novel issue because it is well established South Carolina law that leave to amend should be freely given.

CONCISE STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCUDURAL HISTORY

Respondents allege that Jacob Fulks and Florene Fulks (“the Fulks”) executed a Promissory Note in favor of CMA Mortgage on July 7, 2007 (hereinafter “Fulks Note”) (ROA 30). On the same day The Fulks allegedly executed a Mortgage in favor of Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., as nominee for CMA Mortgage (hereinafter “Mortgage”) (ROA 31). The Mortgage encumbers The Fulks primary residence. (ROA 31)

Allegedly, the mortgage was assigned to various entities several times since July 6, 2007 cultivating in the mortgage being assigned to the current holder, U.S. Bank Trust National Association, not in its Individual Capacity, but solely as owner Trustee for the Legacy Trust 2020-GSI on December 15, 2020 (ROA 30).

On January 17, 2024, the respondents initiated this foreclosure action seeking judicial foreclosure of the The Fulks allege Note and Mortgage by Rushmore Loan Services, on behalf of U.S. Bank Trust National Association, not in its Individual Capacity, but solely as owner Trustee for the Legacy Trust 2020-GSI claiming to be the present lien holder. (ROA 31). The case was given Civil Action No. 2024-CP-40-00292 (hereinafter “2024 Action”)

In paragraph 11 of the Complaint the respondents elected to and did “declare the entire balance of said indebtedness due and payable...” (ROA 31). On January 30, 2024, the Clerk of the Court for Richland County, Jeanette McBride, issued an order of reference to the Master of Equity (hereafter, “MIE”). On February 8, 2024, the Fulks filed an Answer and Counterclaims (2024 Answer). In their answer, the Fulks demanded a jury trial (ROA 35). On March 1, 2024, respondents filed a reply to the 2024 Answer (ROA 64, 65). On March 4, 2024, respondents filed a motion to dismiss the Fulks counterclaims (ROA 67-69).

On April 1, 2024, the Fulks filed their amended answer counterclaims (ROA 70-8) and on April 2, 2024 the Fulks filed their Motion to Transfer back to the Circuit Court (ROA 85-104) due to their demand for a jury trial in both their original answer and CC and amended answer and CC.

On May 5, 2024, respondents filed a second motion to dismiss CC/Memorandum of Law and on June 10, 2024 a Notice of Hearing was issued. After a delay, On September, 16, 2024 a hearing was held on respondents motion to dismiss counterclaims and motion to transfer back to the circuit court. At the hearing, the MIE denied the Fulks motion to transfer and granted respondents motion to dismiss CC.

On September 18, 2024, the order (ROA 3-4) dismissing the CC was issued and this interlocutory appeal follow.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Orders subject to review here has two different applicable standards of review. The dismissal ruling and the abuse of discretion ruling are reviewed under the respective standards.

Rule 12(b)(6) Standard of Review.

Motions to Dismiss Counterclaims are review under the same standard as regular complaint claims. In considering a motion to dismiss a complaint based on a failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, the trial court must base its ruling solely on allegations set forth in the complaint. Spence v. Spence, 368 S.C. 106, 116, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874 (2006). If the facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, then dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is improper. Baird v. Charleston County, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999); Stiles v. Onorato, 318 S.C. 297, 457 S.E.2d 601 (1995). "The question is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every

doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief." Gentry v. Yonce, 337 S.C. 1, 5, 522 S.E.2d 137, 139 (1999). The complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action. Toussaint v. Ham, 292 S.C. 415, 357 S.E.2d 8 (1987).

Proper Considerations under Rule 15(a)

A trial court has discretion to deny a motion to amend if the party opposing the amendment can show a valid reason for denying the motion. *See* Rule 15(a) (stating "leave shall be freely given when justice so requires and does not prejudice any other party");

ARGUMENT

1. THE MASTER OF EQUITY (MIE) ERROR IN FAILING TO TRANSFER THE CASE BACK TO CIRCUIT COURT UPON FILING OF JURY DEMAND

Rule 53(b)

At the September 16, 2024, Motions hearing the court denied the Fulks motion to transfer back to circuit court for a jury trial (ROA 20, #18, ROA 21, #10-19).

Respondents initiated this action on January 17, 2024. On January 30, 2024, before the Fulks could submit their answer, the Clerk of the Court issued an order of reference (Order of Refer.), referring the case to the MIE. On February 8, 2024, The Fulks filed their original answer and counterclaims where they demanded a jury trial (ROA 35). While Rule 53(b) grants the Clerk of Court the authority to refer a case to the MIE, the Rule also states:

“Any party may request a jury pursuant to Rule 38 on any or all issues triable of right by a jury and, upon the filing of a jury demand, the matter shall be returned to the circuit court.”

On February 8, 2024, upon the Fulks filing of their jury demand pursuant to Rule 38, the Clerk of the Court was required to returned the case back to the circuit court. The order of reference was not issued by the circuit court judge which have the legal knowledge to determine triable issues. Rather the order of reference was issued by the Clerk of Court who does not possess the legal knowledge to determine whether the Fulks counterclaims were triable under Rule 38, and thus the Clerk of Court only duly on February 8, 2024 or soon thereafter was to return the case to the circuit court.

In *S. Carolina Community Bank v. Salon Proz.*, 800 S.E. 2d.488, 95,96, S.C. Court of Appeals 2017 this court stated, “ *Because Salon demanded a jury trial in its initial answer, the clerk should not have referred the case,*” *Id at 96*). This court ruling show that the determination of whether Salon had triable counterclaims under Rule 38 resided with the circuit court judge and not the clerk of court who does not possess such expertise. Similar, in this case when the Fulks filed their original counterclaims and demanded a jury trial, under Rule 53(b), the case “shall” be returned the case to circuit court to make the determination if the claims were triable.

Rule 38(b) does not limit triable issues to only claims and counterclaims. Triable issues can consist of affirmative defenses. The Fulks affirmative defenses and counterclaims are issues triable by jury such as, forgery, violation of RESPA and negligence misrepresentation are issues seeking money damages only. “Issues of fact in an action for the recovery of money only or of specific real or personal property **must be tried by a jury**, unless a jury trial be waived.” *Rule 38 - Jury Trial of Right*, S.C. R. Civ. P. 38. If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury. *Rothrock v. Copeland*, 305 S.C. 402, 409 S.E.2d 366 (1991); *Young, supra*.

Compulsory Counterclaims

Respondents foreclosure action is an action in equity. *Hayne Fed. Credit Union*, 327 S.C. at 248, 489 S.E.2d at 475. Generally, "In equity the parties are not entitled, as a matter of right, to a trial by jury. However, counterclaims, including those raised in equitable actions—may, at times, be entitled to a jury trial.

If the complaint is equitable and the counterclaim is legal and compulsory, the plaintiff or the defendant has a right to a jury trial on the counterclaim. In that case, the proper procedure is as follows:

(a) The trial judge may, pursuant to Rule 42(b), order separate trials of the legal and equitable claims, or may order the claims tried in a single proceeding. *Wachovia Bank, Nat. Ass'n v. Blackburn*, 407 S.C. 755 S.E.2d, 329 (2014)

A counterclaim is compulsory only if it arises out of the same transaction or occurrence as the opposing party's claim." *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Smith*, 398 S.C. 487, 495, 730 S.E.2d 328, 332-33 (Ct.App.2012) (quoting *First-Citizens Bank & Trust Co. of S.C. v. Hucks*, 305 S.C. 296, 298, 408 S.E.2d 222, 223 (1991)); see also Rule 13(a), SCRPC.

It is undisputed that one or more of appellants' counterclaim are legal in nature. Thus the only question is whether the counterclaims are compulsory. In *North Carolina Federal S L v. DAV Corp.*, *supra*, the Court held that the test for determining if counterclaims are permissive or compulsory is whether there is a logical relationship between the claim and the counterclaim. In the instant case, the Fulks had a counterclaim for negligence misrepresentation and incorporated statements from their affirmative defenses including no. 13 of their amended answer and counterclaim (ROA 72) that the mortgage and note was a forgery or fraud. This counterclaim alleged that the note and mortgage which respondents base its foreclosure claim was obtained by fraud or forgery and arise out of the same transaction or occurrence as the respondent claim.

The Fulks other counterclaims for violation of South Carolina trade act, NEID and fraudulent concealment are all legal and compulsory in nature because they arise from the respondents

foreclosure claim based on a illegal note and mortgage. Pro se litigants the Fulks acknowledge that given this is their first attempt at maneuvering the court system unrepresented, their claims may have fell short in articulating its compulsory nature. However, the MIE erred in denying leave to amend the complaint at such an early stage of the litigation as discussed below.

2. **THE MIE ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DISMISSING THE COUNTERCLAIMS WITHOUT GRANTING LEAVE TO AMEND**

2.A. The MIE refusal to grant leave to amend was error when Respondents provided no evidence of prejudice by granting leave to amend.

On May 2, 2024, respondents filed a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss counterclaims. The lower court erred by granting respondent motion to dismiss counterclaim without granting leave to amend. At the motion to dismiss hearing, the MIE allowed respondents to address their motion to dismiss first. Upon respondent completing their argument in support of their motion, the MIE only allowed appellants to addressed their motion to transfer and stated;

THE COURT: Okay. All right. Let me hear the defendants' motion. (ROA 13-14)

MS. FULKS: Okay.

After the Fulks addressed their motion and after an unnecessary turn to the merits of the case initiated by the MIE, the MIE stated;

THE COURT; Okay. Okay. The plaintiffs' motion is granted. The defendants motion is denied. (ROA 20) We need to have a hearing now on the merits of the case. So are y'all prepared to move forward today, or you want to come back.

MS. FULKS: No. I'm getting ready to file something. I don't want to do nothing else today. (ROA 20)

No. I'm getting ready to file something. I don't want to do nothing else today. (ROA 20)

Appellant Ms. Fulks later asked the MIE for leave to amend. While Ms. Fulks may not have perfectly articulated her request for leave to amend, the MIE knew exactly what Ms. Fulks was requesting. Ordinarily, the time for requesting leave to amend to correct a Rule 12(b)(6) pleading defect is after the trial court has determined the original pleading was deficient. *Skydive Myrtle Beach v. Horry County*, 826 SE 2d 585 -SC: Supreme Court 2019

MS. FULKS: Can I get a stay or extra time to amend the counteraction based on what he read that needs to be included. Can I get a stay of extra time for that. (ROA 21-22).

THE COURT: Your motion's denied. We're going to set a hearing on the merits (ROA 22).

When a trial court finds a complaint fails "to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action" under Rule 12(b)(6), the court should give the plaintiff an opportunity to amend the complaint pursuant to Rule 15(a) before filing the final order of dismissal. See *Foman v. Davis*, 371 U.S. 178, 179, 182, 83 S.Ct. 227, 228, 230, 9 L.Ed.2d 222, 224, 226 (1962) (where a complaint is dismissed "for failure to state a claim upon which relief might be granted," leave to amend the complaint "should, as the rules require, be 'freely given'" (quoting Rule 15(a), Fed. R. Civ. P.)); *Dockside Ass'n, Inc. v. Detyens*, 180*180 *Simmons & Carlisle*, 297 S.C. 91, 95, 374 S.E.2d 907, 909 (Ct. App. 1988) (holding "Dockside should have been given leave to amend its complaint" before it was finally dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(b), SCRCF (citing *Foman*, 371 U.S. at 182, 83 S.Ct. at 230, 9 L.Ed.2d at 226)).

Proper Considerations under Rule 15(a)

Rule 15(a) "strongly favors amendments and the court is encouraged to freely grant leave to amend." *Patton v. Miller*, 420 S.C. 471, 489-90, 804 S.E.2d 252, 261 (2017) (quoting *Parker v. Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer Dist.*, 362 S.C. 276, 286, 607 S.E.2d 711, 717 (Ct. App. 2005)).

A trial court has discretion to deny a motion to amend if the party opposing the amendment can show a valid reason for denying the motion. *See* Rule 15(a) (stating "leave shall be freely given when justice so requires and does not prejudice any other party"); *Foman*, 371 U.S. at 182, 83 S.Ct. at 230, 9 L.Ed.2d at 226 (listing valid reasons for denying a motion to amend); *Patton*, 420 S.C. at 490, 804 S.E.2d at 262 (stating "the circuit court should have considered whether the defendants were prejudiced by the amendment, or whether there was some other substantial reason to deny it"); 420 S.C. at 491 n.9, 804 S.E.2d at 262 n.9 (stating the burden of establishing a reason for denying the motion is on the party opposing the amendment).

At the September 16, 2024, hearing, respondents never opposed Ms. Fulks request for leave to amend nor did they demonstrate that they would be prejudice by an amendment. The case in its infant stages. No discovery or scheduling orders had begun at the time. The MIE provided *no* reason for the denial of leave to amend either at the hearing or in the court's order. Considering the respondents did not oppose the leave request nor demonstrated they would be prejudice by an amendment, there was no reason for MIE to deny leave to amend. *See* *Forrester v. Smith & Steele Builders, Inc.*, 295 S.C. 504, 507, 369 S.E.2d 156, 158 (Ct. App. 1988) (stating "a proper reason" to deny a motion to amend could be "bad faith, undue delay, or prejudice"); *Id.* ("**In the absence of a proper reason, . . . a denial of leave to amend is an abuse of discretion.**").

Actually, the MIE appeared "Hell bent" on moving to the merits of the case the same day when either party was ready to proceed (ROA 20).

THE COURT: We need to have a hearing now on the merits of the case.
So are y'all prepared to move forward today, or you want to come back(ROA 22).

Here, the MIE erred by failing even to even consider allowing the Fulks to amend their counterclaims. *See Patton*, 420 S.C. at 490, 804 S.E.2d at 262 (holding the trial court's failure to exercise its discretion under Rule 15(a) is itself an abuse of discretion).

CONCLUSION

Therefore, for the forgoing reasons, Appellants Jacob Fulks and Florene Fulks, respectfully ask this Court to reverse the lower court's ruling dismissing the Fulks counterclaims without leave to amend and reverse the MIE denial of their motion to transfer the case back to the circuit court.