THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Aug 12 2025

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity

Case No. 2024-CP-40-00292
Appellate Case No. 2024-001719

U.S. Bank Trust National Association
not in its individual capacity but solely
as owner trustee for Legacy Mortgage
Asset Trust 2020-GS1, U.S. Bank, and
U.S. Bank National Association Respondents,

v.

Jacob Fulks and Florene Fulks..... Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

Sean M. Foerster (SC Bar # 77466)
ROGERS TOWNSEND LLC
1221 Main Street, 14th Floor (29201)
Post Office Box 100200
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-3200

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

ARGUMENT

The only appealable order before the Court for review is the Counterclaim Dismissal Order. The Court must affirm that order for the following reasons:

- I. The Master correctly dismissed the Amended Counterclaims instead of returning the case to the Circuit Court where the unappealed Order of Reference granted the Master jurisdiction to determine all matters arising from or reasonably related to this action.**

Appellants do not argue that the Master erred in concluding that their Amended Counterclaims failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action and dismissing them pursuant Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC. Appellants have thereby abandoned that argument and conceded the insufficiency of their pleadings. *See, e.g., First Savings Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513 (1994)(issues not argued in the brief are deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal).

Instead, Appellants contend that their filing of a jury trial demand automatically and immediately deprived the Master of subject matter jurisdiction to hear the Motion to Dismiss Amended Counterclaims and dismiss their Amended Counterclaims. Appellants’ contention is incorrect.

“In ... an action for foreclosure, some or all of the causes of action in a case may be

referred to a master or special referee by order of a circuit judge or the clerk of court.” Rule 53(b), SCRCF. “Rule 53(b) gives clerks the power to refer some or all causes of action in a foreclosure case when a party *has not yet made* a jury demand under Rule 38.” *S.C. Cmty. Bank v. Salon Proz, LLC*, 420 S.C. 89, 96 n.4, 800 S.E.2d 488, 491 (Ct. App. 2017).

“Once referred, the master or special referee shall exercise all power and authority which a circuit judge sitting without a jury would have in a similar matter.” Rule 53(c), SCRCF.

The Order of Reference in this action, which was entered prior to Appellants’ demanding a jury trial, specifically granted the Master the authority to “to take testimony and to direct entry of final judgment in this action under Rule 53(b), SCRCF, and all matters arising from or reasonably related to such action,” and provided that the Master “shall retain jurisdiction to perform all necessary acts incident to this foreclosure action.” (R. pp. 1-2.)

To the extent that Appellants ever had a right to a jury trial in this case, they waived that right by failing to appeal from the Order of Reference.

“[T]he denial of a party’s right to a particular mode of trial is immediately appealable as a substantial right under Section 14-3-330(2).” *Hagood v. Sommerville*, 362 S.C. 191, 196, 607 S.E.2d 707, 709 (2005). An order referring a case to a Master in Equity affects the mode of trial—a substantial right—and a party waives his or her objection to the reference and the right to a jury trial by failing to immediately appeal the order. *Creed v. Stokes*, 285 S.C. 542, 542, 331 S.E.2d 351, 352 (1985); *see also Lester v. Dawson*, 327 S.C. 263, 266, 491 S.E.2d 240, 241 (1997)(“Moreover, the failure to timely appeal an order affecting the mode of trial effects a waiver of the right to appeal that issue.”). The order of reference becomes the law of the case once a party fails to timely appeal from it. *Creed*, 285 S.C. at 543, 331 S.E.2d at 352.

Appellants clearly had written notice of the Order of Reference no later than April 1,

2024, when they filed their Amended Answer and Amended Counterclaims in which they were able to recite the date and contents of the Order of Reference. By failing to immediately appeal from the Order of Reference thereafter, Appellants waived any right they may have had to a jury trial in this action and the Order of Reference became the law of the case.

Appellants' reliance on *S.C. Cmty. Bank v. Salon Proz, LLC* is misplaced because, unlike in this case, the clerk of court in that case had entered the Order of Reference after the mortgagor defendant had filed a jury trial demand and there was nothing in the record of that case evidencing that the mortgagor or its counsel had received written notice of the Order of Reference. *S.C. Cmty. Bank*, 420 S.C. at 92-93, 800 S.E.2d at 489-90 (Ct. App. 2017).

Further, a jury trial demand made after the entry of an Order of Reference does not mandate an automatic deprivation of the Master's subject matter jurisdiction; rather, the rules of civil procedure provide that a return to the Circuit Court is required only after there has been a determination that the party demanding a jury trial actually has a right to one.

“Any party may request a jury pursuant to Rule 38 on any or all issues triable of right by a jury and, upon the filing of a jury demand, the matter shall be returned to the circuit court.” Rule 53(b), SCRCF (emphasis added); *see also* Rule 38(b), SCRCF (“Any party may demand a trial by jury of any issue triable of right by a jury ...”)(emphasis added).

Pursuant to the Order of Reference entered in this action, the Master had jurisdiction to make that jury right determination and to determine all other “matters arising from or reasonably related to such action.” (R. pp. 1-2.)

For these reasons, as of the date of the motion hearing and as of the date of the entry of the Counterclaim Dismissal Order, the Order of Reference was the law of the case, the Appellants had waived any right to a jury trial they may have ever had by failing to appeal from

it, and the Master had subject matter jurisdiction to hear and determine Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Amended Counterclaims and Appellants' Motion to Transfer. Once the Master determined that the Amended Counterclaims failed to state a cause of action and dismissed them, Appellants' Motion to Transfer was rendered moot as no other issues triable of right by a jury remained in the case and the Master correctly denied it.

Further, Appellants do not argue that the outcome of Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Amended Counterclaims would have been any different if decided by the Circuit Court, and therefore it would have been futile for the Master to transfer insufficiently pleaded counterclaims to the Circuit Court.

For these reasons, the Master did not err in dismissing Appellants' Amended Counterclaims, and the Court must affirm the Counterclaim Dismissal Order.

II. The Master's denial of the Motion to Transfer is not appealable where it was never reduced to a written, signed, and filed order.

The Master's verbal denial of Appellants' Motion to Transfer at the motion hearing on September 16, 2024, is not an appealable order.

"Appeal may be taken, as provided by law, from any final judgment, appealable order or decision." Rule 201(a), SCACR (emphasis added). "No order is final until it is written and entered." *Corbin v. Kohler Co.*, 351 S.C. 613, 620, 571 S.E.2d 92, 96 (Ct. App. 2002)(citations omitted); *see also* Rule 58(a), SCRCF ("Every judgment shall be set forth on a separate document. A judgment is effective only when so set forth and entered in the record.").

Because the Master has not entered any written order denying the Motion to Transfer and because Appellants never filed a Rule 59(e) motion to obtain a written ruling, Appellants have no right to appeal from the Master's denial of that motion.

III. The Master correctly denied the Appellants' Motion to Transfer because none of the Amended Counterclaims entitled Appellants to a jury trial.

None of Appellants' Amended Counterclaims were both legal and compulsory counterclaims. Therefore, Appellants had no right to a jury trial in this action and the Master correctly denied the Motion to Transfer.

“Generally, the relevant question in determining the right to trial by jury is whether an action is legal or equitable; there is no right to trial by jury for equitable actions.” *Mortg. Elec. Sys., Inc. v. White*, 384 S.C. at 614, 682 S.E.2d at 502 (citation omitted). “Because a foreclosure action is one sounding in equity, a party is not entitled, as a matter of right, to a jury trial.” *S.C. Cmty. Bank*, 420 S.C. at 96, 800 S.E.2d at 491-92 (citation omitted).

Further, there is no right to a jury trial on defenses to an equitable cause of action such as foreclosure. *Farley v. Matthews*, 168 S.C. 294, 301-02, 167 S.E. 502, 505 (1933) (citing *Welborn v. Cobb*, 92 S.C. 384, 75 S.E. 691, 693 (1912)) (“Where a defendant sets up, as a defense to an equitable cause of action, facts which grow out of that cause of action, or the transaction which gave rise to it, and are so interwoven with it as to be inseparable from it, the defense partakes of the nature of the cause of action and is equitable, and not triable by jury, as of right.”).

A mortgagor defendant is entitled to a jury trial in a foreclosure action “only if the counterclaims are legal and compulsory.” *S.C. Cmty. Bank*, 420 S.C. at 96, 800 S.E.2d at 491-92 (citation omitted).

Appellants' counterclaims for negligent misrepresentation, fraudulent concealment, and negligent infliction of emotional distress were all permissive, rather than compulsory, because they did not arise out of the transaction or occurrence that was the subject of the Complaint.

“[T]he question of whether a counterclaim is compulsory is governed by the plain language of Rule 13(a).” *Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co. v. Estate of Houck*, 440 S.C. 409, 413, 892

S.E.2d 280, 282 (2023)(prospectively abolishing the logical relationship test). “A pleading shall state as a counterclaim any claim which at the time of serving the pleading the pleader has against any opposing party, if it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party’s claim and does not require for its adjudication the presence of third parties of whom the court cannot acquire jurisdiction.” Rule 13(a), SCRPC.

The “transaction or occurrence” that was the subject of the Complaint included the origination of the mortgage that Respondent sought to foreclose and Appellants’ loan default that occurred on August 1, 2023. The counterclaim for negligent misrepresentation did not arise out of the mortgage origination or the loan default, but rather out of alleged misrepresentations by Respondent or its loan servicers starting in May 2021. The counterclaim for fraudulent concealment did not arise out of the mortgage origination or the loan default, but rather out of Respondent’s alleged failure to comply with Appellants’ request for complete loan accounting information. The counterclaim for negligent infliction of emotional distress did not arise out of the mortgage origination or the loan default, but rather out of alleged emotional distress they suffered from a bankruptcy filing in 2021 and from the filing of this foreclosure action.

Appellants’ counterclaim for violations of the “South Carolina Fair Trade Act (SCFTA) S.C. Consumer Protection Code (SCCPC)” was equitable, rather than legal, because it relates to Respondent’s right to foreclose. The South Carolina Supreme Court has explained that in a mortgage foreclosure action, counterclaims relating to the plaintiff’s right to foreclose are merely part of the equitable action and the mortgagor defendant has no right to a jury trial on such claims:

Nor is the nature of the action changed by reason of the fact that the defendants have, in their answers, set up defenses and counterclaims based upon alleged misrepresentations in the transaction upon which the plaintiff’s note and pledge are predicated. The questions raised by these defenses and counterclaims directly

affect the validity of the plaintiff's lien and the question as to the amount due upon the debt secured by the lien. Where, in actions of foreclosure, the defendant sets up a defense and/or a counterclaim affecting the consideration, and arising out of the transaction in which the mortgage or lien was created, the authorities hold that the issues thus raised are equitable and are to be tried by the court upon its equity side.

Collier v. Green, 244 S.C. 367, 371, 137 S.E.2d 277, 280 (1964).

The main purpose of Appellants' counterclaim was to challenge Respondent's right to foreclose the mortgage based on an alleged failure of the original lender to comply with South Carolina's "Attorney Preference Statute" at the loan closing, based on the loan closing not being supervised by an attorney, and based on the loan being unconscionable when made. (R. pp. 80-81 ¶ 31.) As such, this counterclaim was equitable.

Because none of Appellants' Amended Counterclaims were both legal and compulsory counterclaims, Appellants never had a right to a jury trial in this action and the Master did not err in denying Appellants' Motion to Transfer and granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Amended Counterclaims.

IV. The Court is without jurisdiction to review the Master's denial of the Appellants' Oral Motion to Amend where the Appellants did not serve a Notice of Appeal from it.

While Appellants argue in their Brief that the Master erred in denying their Oral Motion to Amend, and putting aside the fact that this denial was never set forth in a written and appealable order in this action, the Court lacks jurisdiction to review that denial because Appellants have not served a Notice of Appeal from it.

"Service of the notice of appeal is a jurisdictional requirement, and this Court has no authority to extend or expand the time in which the notice of intent to appeal must be served." *Camp v. Camp*, 386 S.C. 571, 574-75, 689 S.E.2d 634, 636 (2010)(citation and quotations marks omitted).

The only Notice of Appeal served by the Appellants makes no mention of the Master's denial of their Oral Motion to Amend. Accordingly, even if the Master's denial of their Oral Motion to Amend was an appealable order (which Respondent denies), the Court lacks jurisdiction to review it and should disregard Section 2 of the Brief of the Appellants.

V. The Master's denials of the Motion to Transfer and the Oral Motion to Amend are not preserved for appellate review.

Aside from the lack of an appealable order denying the Motion to Transfer and aside from Appellants' failure to serve a notice of appeal from the denial of the Oral Motion to Amend, Appellants failed to preserve those rulings for appellate review.

"It is well settled that an issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review." *S.C. DOT v. M & T Enters. of Mt. Pleasant, LLC*, 379 S.C. 645, 658, 667 S.E.2d 7, 14 (Ct. App. 2008) (citation omitted). "Additionally, [i]f the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review." *Id.* at 658, 667 S.E.2d at 14-15 (citation and quotation marks omitted)

"[W]here an issue presented to the circuit court in a civil case is not explicitly ruled upon in the final order, the issue must be raised by an appropriate post-trial motion to be preserved for appellate review." *Summersell v. S.C. Dep't of Pub. Safety*, 337 S.C. 19, 22, 522 S.E.2d 144, 145-46 (1999)(citation omitted).

The Master never entered any written order denying the Appellants' Motion to Transfer or their Oral Motion to Amend, and Appellants' never filed a Rule 59(e) motion seeking a written ruling on those motions. Therefore, the issues of whether the Master erred in denying those two motions is not preserved for appellate review.

VI. The Master did not abuse his discretion in denying the Appellants' Oral Motion to Amend.

Aside from the Appellants' failure to perfect and preserve an appeal from the Master's denial of the Oral Motion to Amend, and to the extent that the Master actually denied that motion¹, the Master did not abuse his discretion in doing so where the Appellants had already amended their counterclaims once and still failed to state of cause of action, where Appellants tendered no proposed amended pleading to the Master to consider, and where Appellants articulated no grounds or basis for their motion to amend for the Master to consider.

¹ As discussed herein, *supra*, it is not clear to Respondent whether the "motion" referred to by the Master following the Appellants' request for leave to amend their pleadings was the Oral Motion to Amend or the Motion to Transfer that the Master had just denied moments earlier. (R. p. 20, line 18.)

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing and any additional sustaining grounds appearing in the record, Respondent respectfully requests that the Court affirm the Counterclaim Dismissal Order and find that Appellants' purported appeals from the Master's oral denials of the Motion to Transfer and the Oral Motion to Amend are not reviewable by the Court.